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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR ONLINE PUBLICATION ONLY
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

TODD C. BANK, individually and on éhalfof
all others similarly guated
Plaintiff, MEMORANDUM
AND ORDER
- Versus - 10-CV-1770
HYDRA GROUP LLC,
Defendant.

APPEARANCES

TODD C. BANK
119-40 Union Turnpike, Fourth Floor
Kew Gardens, New York 11415
Plaintiff Pro Se

MORRIS & FOX PC
419 Park Avenue South, 16th Floor
New York, New York 10016

By: Stephen Lawrence Fox
Attorneys for Defendant

JOHN GLEESON, United States District Judge:

Todd Bank brings this putative class action against Hydra Group(‘lHyzira”),
claiming that it sent him and others unsolicited commercial email advertisements in violation of
§ 17529.5(a)(3) of the California Business and Professional Code. Banlaneekard of
liquidated damages of $1,000 for each ofttireeemailsHydra sent to him and the over one
million emails Hydra sent to the class. Hydra moves to dismiss putsugaatieral Rule of Civil
Procedure (“FRCP”) 12(b)(6), for a more definite statement pursuant to EREPand 9(b),
and to strike Bank’s class action allegations pursuant to FRCP 12(f). Withoutsaulgites

merits ofthe other motions filed by Hydragrantits motion to dismiss the complaint.
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BACKGROUND

According to the complaint, whose nonconclusory factual allegations | assume t
be true for the purposes of this motiseg Ashcroft v. Igbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949-50 (2009),
the dispute in tisi cases arises from the following:

On or about January 22, 2010, Hyttemsmittedo Bankard at leasionemillion
other email addresses an emdth the subject line “ATTN: Your Auténsurance Renewal
Reminder Jarz1. 2010.” Compl. 11 8-9, 11. On or about January 27, 2010 kadsanittedo
Bankand at least one million other email addreds@sadditional emails, both of which had the
subject line “ATTN: Your Auto Insurance Renewal Reminder Jan 27. 2010.” Compl. 1 8, 10-
11. Despitetheir subjet lines theseemails did not pertain to any recipient’s spedifisurance
policy. Compl. T 12.

On April 19, 2010 Bankiled this actionagainst Hydrdor violations of
§ 17529.5(a)(3) on behalf of himself and the class of individuals who receiveliCited emails
from Hydra entitled “Your Auto Insurance Renewal Remitidéte invoked federal jurisdiction
underthe Class Action Fairness A@3 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A), alleging that the matter in
controversy exceeded $5 million. In a memorandum and order dated September 24, 2010, |
granted Hydra’s motion to dismiss the complaint, finding that the Court lacked gtinadio
entertain thectionbecause the matter in controversy was less than $5 million. On appeal, the
Second Circuit vacated my order and remanded for further proceedinggarties are now
before me again, this time on Hydra’s motion to dismiss, for a more definite stdfemnd to
strike Bank’s class action allegations.

DISCUSSION

A. Sandard of Review for a Motion to Dismiss



To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must “contain sufficient factual
matter. . .to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its facédbal, 556 U.S. at 1949
(quotingBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). In determpnthe
plausibility ofaclaim at this stagé[a]lthough . . .we must take all of the factual allegations in
the complaint as true, we ‘are not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couchetliak a fa
allegation” Id. at 1950-51 (quotingwombly, 550 U.S. at 555). Thus the first step on a motion
to dismiss is to “identify[] pleadings that, because theyharmore than conclusions, are not
entitled to the assumption of truthldl. at 1950. Putting those conclusory allegations aside,
must denythe motion to dismiss if the facts alleged, assumed as true, “allow[] the cowatmo dr
the reasonable inference that the defendant[s] [are] liable for the miscafidget.” Id. at
1949.
B. Analysis

The California BusinesandProfessional Cod@he “Act”) makes it unlawful for
a person or entityo: (1) “advertisé (2) “in a commercial @nail advertisemeit(3) “either sent
from California or sent to a California electronic mail addré$swhen the “person knowgb)
that its subject linéwould belikely to misleada recipient, acting reasonably under the
circumstancés(6) “about a material fact regarding the contents or subject matter of the
messagé. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17529.5(a)(3). To bring a priwatéonfor a violation of
the Act,a plaintiff must be a “recipient of an unsoliciteainmercialeinail advertisement.”
8§ 17529.5(b)(1)(AYii) . Because Bank has failed to plead factual information that allows the
Court to reasonably infeéhat he has a claito reliefunder the Act, | dimiss the complaint.

First,Bank has failed to allege sufficient factual matteplausiblyestablishthat

any of the emails in question was “a commercialal advertisement.” Bhough Bankasserts



that all of the emailsvere, Compl.  8-10, this astion isa legal conclusiothat is not entitled
to a presumption of truthSee Igbal, 556 U.S. at 1950The Act defines a “commercialmail
advertisement” asghy electronic mail message initiated for the purpose of advertising or
promoting the lease, sale, rental, gift offer, or other disposition of any progeotys, services,
or extension of credit.” § 17529.1(c). Bank’s complaint providefactoalinformation
regarding the contents of the emails at issagart from the fact that they didtpertain to any
recipient’s specific auto insurance policyor the intent of theender(s)andBankdoes not
attach tohis complaint a copy of any of the emails. Without any such information, | cannot
reasonably infethat the emails were “initiatfdr the purpose of advertising or promotirggich
that they constituteommercial email advertisements.

Second, and relatedly, the complaint fails to plausibly establish that Hydra
“advertise[d].” Bank asserts that Hydra “tremted” the emails in gestion, buttransmitt[ing]”
an emaildoes notlwaysconstitute “advertis[ing]” in an emailf Hydra’s act oftransmitting
the emails took the form sénding the emailsas Bank suggested at oral argument held on
December 22, 2011hen its transmissiowould amount to advertisingassuming that the
emails sent featured advertisements or promotidsee Hypertouch v. ValueClick, Inc., 123
Cal. Rptr. 3d 8, 19 (Ct. App. 2011). However, in light of the many different possible meanings
of the word “traasmitted,”thefact that Hydra transmitteah email, unadorned by information
regarding themanner or form of the transmission, is insufficient to reasonably raise the inference
that Hydraadvertised within the meaning of the Adhdeed, the Act specifatly exempts from
its scope the “routine transmission” ofreail advertisement§ 17529.5(b(1)(D), defined as
“the transmission, routing, relaying, handling, or storing of an electroniomeasage through

an automatic technical proces§,17529.1(n).Similarly, altrough Hydra would have advertised



(regardless of how it transmittéloe emailsor who sent theinf the emailseatured Hydra’s

own productssee Hypertouch, 123 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 1&sis Internet Servs. v. Optin Global, Inc.,

No. C 05-5124, 2006 WL 1820902, at *6 (N.D. Cal. June 30, 2006), | have no information about
the content of the emails’he factual allegations in the complaint are thus insufficient to

establish thaHydraadvertised.

Third, Banks factual allegations fail tplausbly establish that the emails at issue
were “either sent from California or sent to a California electronic mail asltirédthoughthe
complaint states that Hydra maintains its executive offices in California, it doeléeget that
Hydra sent the emailas just discussed. No other allegations in the complaint pertain to the
state from which or to which the emails were sefithe complaint is thus insufficient on this
basis as well.

Hydra identifies several other grounds that it argues wadramissal of the
complaint, including that the provision of the Act upon which Bsudshas been preempted by
the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003, 15.U.S.C
8 7701et seq., andthat the higher pleading requiremeif FRCP 9 apply to the complaint and
are unsatisfied | do not reach these arguments, or Hydra’s other arguments about whether |
should certify a class in this casewhether | should require Bank to amend his pleadings,
because | find the complaint fails to meet even the basic pleading requseshERCP 8 and

thus must be dismissed.

! At oral argument Bank argued that his allegation that Hydra transmittedlitited commercial

electroniemail advertisement[s],” Compl. | 8, as that term is defined ih7&29.1(c) and 17529.1(0), implicitly
alleged that the emails wereither sent fronCalifornia or sent to a California electronic mail address.” Nothing in
the definition of “unsolicited commercialraail advertisement” as set forth in §8529.1(c) and 17529.1(0) has to
do with the geographical origin or destination of such emailttaungll cannot accept Bank’s suggestion that the
origin or destination of the emails in question was implicit in his allegatiogar@kess, a plaintiff's pleading

burden undetgbal is not satisfied by implicit suggestions within conclusory allegations.
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CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, the complaint is dismissed in its enAitesal
argument, Bank requested leave to replead in the event | granted the motion te. disBasik
still wishes to attempt to plead a viable claim, he may file an amended complaintedarer b
January 10, 2012.

So ordered.

John Gleeson, U.S.D.J.

Dated: December 27, 2011
Brooklyn, New York



